# Review of Molecular Techniques for the Identification of Bacterial Communities in Biological Effluent Treatment Facilities at Pulp and Paper Mills

Ana M. Bailón-Salas,<sup>a,δ</sup> Hiram Medrano-Roldán,<sup>a</sup> Sergio Valle-Cervantes,<sup>a</sup> Luis A. Ordaz-Díaz,<sup>b</sup> Norma Urtiz-Estrada,<sup>c</sup> and Juan A. Rojas-Contreras <sup>a,\*</sup>

One of the processes most used in biotechnology today for handling industrial liquid wastes is biological wastewater treatment. The efficiency and quality of its operation depends on the composition and activity of the microbial community that is present. The application of traditional and molecular techniques has provided a glimpse into the "black box" and has given information to improve the wastewater treatment process. However, bleach pulp and paper mill effluents require a better understanding of the active bacterial population. For the study of these microorganisms, molecular techniques have been used for more than 15 years. However, there has been a lack of knowledge of the physiological requirements and relations with the environment, which seems to be very difficult to obtain involving profile on the diversity. Nowadays, highthroughput sequencing technology is a promising method that makes it possible to identify the entire profile of microbial communities. In combination with fingerprint methods, this approach allows the identification and analysis of the whole biodiversity of microbial communities. In this review, several identification techniques will be discussed.

Keywords: Microbial characterization; Pulp and paper; Biological treatment; Molecular techniques; Bacterial communities

Contact information: a: Chemical and Biochemical Engineering Department, Durango Institute of Technology (ITD), Blvd. Felipe Pescador 1830 Ote. Col. Nueva Vizcaya, 34080, Durango, Dgo., México; b: Environmental Engineering Technology, Universidad Politécnica de Durango, Carretera Dgo-México, km 9.5, Col. Dolores Hidalgo, Durango, Dgo. México; c: Facultad de Ciencias Químicas, Universidad Juárez del Estado de Durango, Durango, México; <sup>δ</sup>PhD student; \* Corresponding author: juanroco@hotmail.com

CONTENTS	
INTRODUCTION	4385
BACKGROUND OF TRADITIONAL MICROBIOLOGICAL TECHNIQUES	4386
GENOMIC ANALYSIS	4388
METAGENOMICS	4388
MOLECULAR TECHNIQUES AND THEIR APPLICATION IN THE TREATMENT OF WASTEW	ATER4389
LIBRARY CLONES	4390
PROBES	4391
REAL-TIME REVERSE TRANSCRIPTION PCR (RT-PCR)	4391
REVERSE SAMPLE GENOME PROBING (RSGP)	4392
FLUORESCENT IN SITU HYBRIDIZATION (FISH)	4392
ENTEROBACTERIAL REPETITIVE INTERGENIC CONSENSUS POLYMERASE CHAIN RI	EACTION
(ERIC-PCR).	4393
REPETITIVE EXTRAGENIC PALINDROMIC- PCR (REP-PCR)	4393
COMMUNITY PROFILING OR DNA FINGERPRINTING	4393
RANDOM AMPLIFIED POLYMORPHIC DNA (RAPD)	4394
AMPLIFIED RIBOSOMAL DNA RESTRICTION ANALYSIS (ARDRA)	4394
TERMINAL RESTRICTION FRAGMENT LENGTH POLYMORPHISM (RFLP)	4395
DENATURING GRADIENT GEL ELECTROPHORESIS (DGGE)	4396

TEMPERATURE GRADIENT GEL ELECTROPHORESIS (TGGE)	4397
RIBOSOMAL INTERGENIC SPACER ANALYSIS (RISA)	4397
ADVANCED MOLECULAR TECHNIQUES	4398
NEXT-GENERATION SEQUENCING	4398
PYROSEQUENCING ANALYSIS	4399
SINGLE-CELL GENOME SEQUENCING	4399
MASSIVELY PARALLEL SIGNATURE SEQUENCING (MPSS)	4400
CONCLUSIONS	

#### INTRODUCTION

In nature, the size of microbial diversity is much larger and unknown than previously thought (Rondon *et al.* 1999). The microbes remain fully dominant in the earth's ecosphere. A sense of the biological dominance of microbes is given by estimates of the total number of living bacteria, roughly 4-6 x  $10^{30}$  cells (Whitman *et al.* 1998; Dunlap 2001).

The vast majority of microbial species are 'uncultured', meaning that they do not grow under laboratory conditions (Lewis *et al.* 2010). Studies of microbial diversity rest on the assumption that in the microbial cultivation most organisms are recovered. However, the true extent of microbial diversity is much higher, since many microorganisms are not recovered by using the employed culture techniques (Rondon *et al.* 1999). Major limitations of used techniques are related to the culture media. More than 99% of the microorganisms in the environment, as observed through the microscope, are not cultivable (Hugenholtz 2002).

Rondon *et al.* in 1999 mention that only 1% of the cells observed in the culture of a sample can be studied. Because of the possibility that non-culturable cells must be grown under different environmental conditions, the goal of many researchers has been focused on further characterizing these uncultivable microorganisms, using molecular methods and phylogenetic analysis based on the DNA sequence information in order to understand their distribution and relationship with the environment.

Metagenomics investigations have resulted in the identification of various novel life forms in geographically distinct regions, and attempts are still underway to describe their possible role in that environment (Joshi *et al.* 2014). Microbial communities inhabiting wastewater environments are of significant interest for being applied in basic microbiology. Communities of prokaryotic microorganisms present in activated-sludge or biofilm reactors are responsible for most of the carbon and nutrient removal from sewage and thus represent the core component of every biological waste water treatment plant (WWTP) (Wagner and Loy 2002). These populations have been extensively studied for many years. However, only with the development of molecular and metagenomics approaches has it become possible to assess the true diversity of wastewater communities (Del Casale *et al.* 2011).

Biochemical activity of bacteria for the degradation of detrimental compounds is essential to reduce pollution to the environment. The knowledge of complex microbial communities developing in the treatment plants is necessary to ensure their efficient performance (Forster *et al.* 2003). It is time for wastewater microbiology to be recognized as a mature and dynamic discipline in its own right, offering a deeper understanding of life in complex microbial communities (Daims *et al.* 2006).

Molecular techniques for identification of microorganisms in several pulp and paper mill effluents have been used for more than 15 years. Techniques having names such as RISA, RT-PCR, clone library, T-RFLP, DGGE, FISH, and recently, pyrosequencing, all have allowed species identification, at least in some cases. The application of traditional and molecular techniques has allowed glimpsing into the "black box" of a wastewater treatment process, providing information that can be used to improve performance. Nevertheless, a high sample throughput is required for broad-scale community comparisons, cell lysis efficiency, and co-extraction of contaminants that may interfere with PCR. For example, extraction methods with a bead-beating tend to shear DNA and amplification of fragmented nucleic acids can generate chimeras (Wintzingerode *et al.* 1997).

Therefore, the low sequencing depth of the traditional PCR approach when compared with the vast genetic diversity present in natural systems hinders comprehensive characterization of the microbial community structure. Further, the current community analyses typically represent a mere snapshot of the dominant members, with little information on taxa with medium to low abundances (Shendure and Ji 2008). Rastogi and Sani (2011) classify these analyzes as "partial community analysis". In spite of the disadvantages of these techniques, at present they could be of great utility for dynamic population studies. In this review, the limitations and potential of the techniques in the identification of microorganisms in biological processes of pulp and paper mill effluents will be discussed.

#### **BACKGROUND OF TRADITIONAL MICROBIOLOGICAL TECHNIQUES**

The microbial identification techniques have undergone rapid development during the 20<sup>th</sup> and 21<sup>th</sup> centuries. Initially, traditional or phenotypic methods were the most used. Traditional methods for microbial identification require the recognition of differences in morphology, growth, enzymatic activity, and metabolism to define genera and species (Previously isolated) (Petti *et al.* 2005). Traditional techniques to characterize microbial ecology involve isolation and characterization of microorganisms using commercial growth media such as Luria–Broth, Nutrient Agar, and Tryptic Soy Agar (Kirk *et al.* 2004). In the pulp industry, microbial communities have been explored under traditional microbiology by viable cell count and enzyme activities test.

#### **Viable Cell Count**

The anaerobic procedures for count of aerobic/anaerobic bacteria involve growth in selective media, and the procedures are carried out in anaerobic chambers. Liss and Allen in 1992 evaluated the presence of culturable bacteria in different seasons of a lagoon that receives the effluent from a kraft pulp mill. Large aerated lagoons are the main process in the pulp and paper industry for biological wastewater treatment (Pougatch *et al.* 2007; Ordaz-Díaz *et al.* 2016). Studies revealed that variation in the culturable microbial population in a kraft pulp mill lagoon is related to process parameters: wood type and temperature. In the cited studies the differentiation between aerobic and anaerobic microorganisms was possible.

Zhang *et al.* in 1997 isolated but did not characterize five bacterial strains from bleach kraft effluents; they examined the ability of two bacterial strains to grow on

thermochemical and mechanical pulping effluent and degrade dehydroabietic acid (DHA), a resin acid commonly found in such effluents. Viable cell counts on different substrates and their correlation with the removal of DHA were performed.

Using the most probable number (MPN) and metabolic tests, Gauthier and Archibald (2001) detected the presence of numerous coliforms, especially *Klebsiella* spp., *Escherichia coli, Enterobacter* spp., and *Citrobacter* spp. Furthermore, the overall distribution of thermotolerant coliform bacteria in paper mill effluents and sludge's was investigated using the chromogenic broth method. The chromogenic media used were 1-Colilert Broth (Idexx Laboratories, Westbrook, ME.,) 2-LMX Broth (VWR International, Montreal, QC), and 3-Modified mTEC. For the LMX Broth, the Kovac substrate was added to the fluorescent tubes and the indole detection gave a confirmation for the presumptive *E. coli*. The population estimates were made using the most probable number MPN (Beauchamp *et al.* 2006).

#### Identification by Enzyme Activities

Pattern analysis of carbon-source utilization is a method to characterize heterotrophic microbial communities. Plates contain multiple carbon substrates; these are analyzed over a short period, and the patterns are compared (Choi and Dobbs 1999). Biolog GN plate contains an array of 95 carbon sources and a tetrazolium dye (oxidation indicator), which have been developed to assist in the identification of Gram-negative microbial isolates using databases available from BIOLOG (Kaiser *et al.* 1998). This technique requires long periods of growth and yield data are skewed, because in most cases it is not possible to identify organisms at the species level.

Fulthorpe *et al.* (1993) used GN microplates for isolates. The biologic GN microplate data base contained the fingerprints of over 500 species of bacteria, but the majority of the bacterial strains from the environments sampled did not match known fingerprints. Besides, a microbial community was isolated from the discharge of effluent of pulp and paper mill, previously enriched with a minimal salt medium. It was identified by morphological, physiological, and chemotaxonomical properties as *Acinetobacter spp., Acidovorax spp., Ancylobacter aquaticus, Klebsiella spp., Comamonas testosteroni, Pseudomonas stutzeri, Pseudomonas fluorescens*, and *Pseudomonas putida*. Using this method, it was possible to characterize microorganisms at the species level.

The microbial identification on bleached kraft mill effluent was carried out using BIOLOG redox-base carbon-substrate utilization assay (Victorio *et al.* 1996). Characterization of separate bacteria and protozoa components of one bacterial community showed that each fraction displayed different substrate utilization patterns. This method allowed for characterizing microorganisms at the community level. The disadvantage is that microplates require a long incubation period for detecting the oxidation of bleached kraft mill effluent compounds. The use of these techniques with individual chemicals allowed for the determination of biodegradation potential (Victorio *et al.* 1996). The identification of *Microbrevis luteum* species with a commercial microplate test was used too by Singh in 2007. In addition, Chuphal *et al.* (2005) identified *Micrococcus luteus, Deinococcus radiophilus, Micrococcus diversus*, and *Pseudomonas syringae*. Predominant bacteria in paper and pulp mill effluent were evaluated and identified for the degradation efficiency of individual isolates and their combinations. The isolated bacteria were identified by colony morphology, Gram

staining, microscopic observation, and confirmation test (Saraswathi and Saseetharan 2010).

The disadvantage of traditional cultivation techniques is that they are unable to identify the majority of microorganisms in environmental samples, due to the inability of many organisms to grow on laboratory media (Mocali and Benedetti 2010). For slow-growing microorganisms, traditional phenotypic identification is difficult and time-consuming, besides, the interpretation of test results involves substantial subjective judgment (Stager and Davis 1992).

#### **Genomic Analysis**

Usually, cloning and sequencing of genomic DNA is used when detailed and accurate phylogenetic information from environmental samples is required. In general, the method involves the extraction of DNA (of previously isolated bacteria), amplification with suitable primers, and the generation of clone libraries using sequencing vectors.

It is important to increase the knowledge of bacterial communities capable of degrading contaminates present in effluents in biological effluent treatment pulp and paper. Mishra and Thakur (2010) conducted a related study with four bacterial strains isolated from pulp and paper mill sludge having higher capability to remove color and lignin. One of them was identified as *Bacillus* sp. by 16S rDNA sequencing. Genomic DNA of bacteria was isolated using a QIAamp DNAMini Kit. The 16S rDNA gene was amplified using the primer pair P0 5'- GAGAGTTTGATCCTGGCTCAG- 3' and P6 5'-CTACGGCTACCT-TGTTACGA- 3' with a thermo cycler (Applied Biosystem, USA). The amplified DNA was purified using Qiaquick PCR Purification Kit (Qiagen). The sequences were compared in the GenBank using the standard BLAST site at NCBI server. The alignment of these sequences was done using CLUSTAL W program (version 1.8.3). From the aligned sequences neighbor-joining dendrogram was constructed with Mega 3.1 software.

Hooda *et al.* (2015) analyzed the degradation of *Brevibacillus agri* in pulp and paper mill effluent, based on its efficiency to reduce chemical oxygen demand (COD), color, adsorbable organic halides (AOX), and lignin. The genomic DNA from the bacterial isolate was extracted, and amplification of the 16 s rRNA gene was performed using universal primers, ~ 1500-bp PCR products were sequenced.

#### **Metagenomics**

Metagenomics can be defined as "the application of modern genomics techniques to the study of communities of microbial organisms directly in their natural environments, bypassing the need for isolation and laboratory cultivation of individual species" (Chen and Pachter 2005). Metagenomics is also known by other names such as environmental genomics or community genomics, or microbial eco genomics. Essentially, metagenomics does not include methods that interrogate only PCR-amplified selected genes (*i.e.* genetic fingerprinting techniques), as they do not provide information on genetic diversity beyond the genes that are being amplified. However, metagenomics (and other cultivation independent methods) based on 16S rDNA gene copies do not distinguish between viable and dead microorganisms (Kanto-Oqvist *et al.* 2008).

Metagenomics is crucial for understanding the biochemical roles of uncultured microorganisms and their interaction with other biotic and abiotic factors. Environmental metagenomics have proved to be great resources for new microbial enzymes and antibiotics with potential applications in biotechnology, medicine, and industry (Rondon *et al.* 2000; Riesenfeld *et al.* 2004).

# MOLECULAR TECHNIQUES AND THEIR APPLICATION IN THE TREATMENT OF WASTEWATER

Today, new techniques of molecular biology are radically changing the landscape, allowing access to non-culturable microbial populations and their own fresh samples. These techniques have revolutionized the ability to link biogeochemical phenomena in microbial ecology, which is leading to novel discoveries about the taxonomic and functional diversity of microorganisms. It is now possible to proceed in the opposite direction to the traditional focus first study different functional genes, the microorganisms in which they reside, and their interactions at the community level, which can expand our knowledge of many important biogeochemical processes at local, regional and global, scale (Zak *et al.* 2006).

Since the 1980's, environmental microbiologists have observed the potential of the polymerase chain reaction (PCR) to study microbial communities, detecting or identifying microorganisms in different environments. Compared with traditional techniques (dependent on culture media) for microorganism identification, PCR makes such goals possible without depending on culture media (Albuquerque *et al.* 2009). The PCR technique simulates the process of DNA replication *in vitro*, and involves the amplification of target DNA, generating millions of copies.

Genotypic identification of microorganisms by 16S rRNA gene sequencing appeared as a more objective (although not perfect), accurate, and reliable method for bacterial identification, with the added capability of defining taxonomical relationships among bacteria (Clarridge 2004). The microbial communities study relies essentially on the detection and analysis of the small subunit ribosomal RNA molecules and genes (16S rDNA molecules for prokaryotes) (Amann *et al.* 1998).

For almost 20 years, the use of genome sequences and DNA fingerprinting techniques has overcome the need for cultivation to characterize and identify microorganisms in nature. Hence knowing the most prominent microorganisms in the population, without isolating them, has revolutionized microbial ecology opening new fields of research (Chandra *et al.* 2007).

DNA isolated from environmental samples can be hybridized with a labeled probe, cloned into a plasmid or amplified by PCR (Bitton 2005). DNA sequencing techniques, especially those targeting ribosomal RNA genes, have opened new windows for investigating uncultured bacteria in different environments (Joshi *et al.* 2014). The availability of improved DNA sequencing techniques, vastly increased databases, and more readily available kits and software, makes this technology preferred to traditional microbial identification techniques (Clarridge 2004).

### Library Clones

The use of library clones is the most widely used method to analyze the PCR products from environmental samples. It is used to clone the individual gene fragments in a vector (plasmid or phages), followed by sequencing. Later, the fragments are compared with known sequences of a database such as GenBank, RDP, and Greengenes. Commonly, the cloned sequences are a phylum, class, order, family, subfamily, or species with a degree of similarity of 80, 85, 90, 92, 94, or 97%, respectively (Rastogi and Sani 2011). A library 16S rDNA gene clone is a technique that involves cloning and analysis of isolated microbial DNA or directly from the environmental sample. Construction of the library consists of the following steps: 1) DNA extraction, 2) cloning of DNA fragments at random into a suitable vector, 3) transforming a host bacterium, and 4) detecting the clone library. Sequencing of 16s rDNA allows the identification of most microorganisms in a sample at the species level. The disadvantage is that it requires a lot of time and the technique alone does not allow quantification. Large libraries insertions of DNA fragments (100 to 200 kb) are suitable for research multigene (Rastogi and Sani 2011). This technique is demanding with respect to labor, time, and cost; however, the library of clones is considered the "gold standard" for preliminary studies of microbial diversity (DeSantis et al. 2007). DNA recovery of high molecular weight is, however, a prerequisite for the use of vectors with a high capacity. Escherichia coli are most often used as a guest option. Other hosts such as Streptomyces lividans, Pseudomonas putida, and *Rhizobium* sp., have also been used successfully. Despite the limitations mentioned above, this technique has been used in the following studies:

Clone libraries of rDNA amplicons by Yu and Mohn (2001) from paper mill effluent were constructed. The temporal differences in community structure, based on summer and winter samplings, were greater than the spatial differences during either season. Among 90 clones analyzed (30 clones from each sample), 56 phylotypes were distinguished by restriction fragment length polymorphism (RFLP). The most abrupt changes in community structure were associated with a temperature change from 35 °C to 39 °C and with increases in dissolved oxygen concentrations. A community succession was evident in the lagoon, as indicated by a progressive community transition through seven sample locations. The results of this research show the presence of X. agilis, I. dechloratans, L. mobilis D., M. aerodenitrifican, P. franzmannii, G. ferrireducens, L. salivarius subsp. salivarilus, C. henricii, D. riboflavin, R. capsulatus, A. brasilense, P. manganicum, C. fermentans, F. sancti, R. slithyformis, T. maltophilum, and M. liquefaciens.

Chandra *et al.* (2007) showed the ability of three aerobic bacterial strains isolated from pulp paper mill effluent sludge, to degrade lignin. DNA was extracted from the pure cultures; the PCR products were cloned and sequenced. 16S rRNA sequencing showed 95% base sequence homology, and it was identified as *Paenibacillus* sp., *Aneurinibacillus aneurinilyticus*, and *Bacillus* sp.

16S rDNA amplicons from the mixed liquor pilot plant were ligated into the pGEM®-T easy vector (Promega); then they were transformed into DH10B competent *E. coli* cells. Clones inserted were reamplified directly from the colonies, utilizing the M13/pUC universal forward and reverse sequencing primers to avoid the co-amplification of *E. coli* 16S rDNA genes, clones were differentiated by RFLP. Clones sequenced was identified as  $\alpha$ ,  $\beta$ , and  $\delta$ -Proteobacteria and Cytophaga–Flexibacter–Bacteroides group (Reid *et al.* 2008).

#### Probes

Specific microorganisms DNA probes help to hunt out and to estimate the abundance or growth rate of selected bacterial species in an environmental sample. This technique relies on the hybridization of the target DNA. The sample is subjected to heat or alkaline solution, wherein the chains are denatured (single strands produced). This is achieved by using probes, which are specific short sequences of single stranded DNA of the microorganism to be identified with 32P-labeled or fluorescent compounds (*e.g.* fluorescein isothiocyanate). The probe hybridizes with complementary DNA strand if it contains the sequence of interest (Bitton 2005).

A majority of molecular ecology studies have evaluated 16S rDNA sequences of prokaryotic microorganisms in the soil, water, and other samples found in nature and / or develop probes to determine whether an enzyme or product is present in the sample (Hunter-Cevera 1998). In 1992 Manz *et al.* located specific sequences which were evaluated as potential nucleic acid probes for the differentiation of the major subclasses of proteobacteria. They underline the importance of these probes for *in situ* monitoring of microbial communities.

The use of probes allows the *in situ* monitoring of population distribution and dynamics in microbial communities. Fortin *et al.* (1998) developed gene probes and oligonucleotide primers to monitor kraft pulp mill effluent treatment systems for the presence of key genes responsible for the dehalogenation of chloroaliphatic organics. The primer design was performed using GENEWORKS software (IntelliGenetics Inc., Cambell, Calif.). DNA probes were designed from the dhlB encoding haloacid dehalogenase, dhlA encoding haloalkane dehalogenase from *Xanthobacter autotrophicus*, dehH<sub>2</sub> encoding haloacetate dehalogenase from *Moraxella*, and mmoX encoding the soluble methane monooxygenase from *Methylococcus capsulatus*. The amplicon was transferred onto a Zeta-probe nylon membrane (BioRad Laboratories) using the LKB 2016 VacuGene vacuum blotting system (Pharmacia Biotech) and transferred to fresh prehybridization solution containing the labelled probe. After using the standard Zeta-probe membrane protocol, the membranes were exposed to X-ray films for 1 to 5 days. The plasmid transformation was performed using a modified PTZ19R *Escherichia coli* plasmid and *E. coli* NM522 competent cells.

#### Real-time Reverse Transcription PCR (RT-PCR)

This technique for quantifying mRNA in biological samples have benefits such as, its sensitivity, large dynamic range, and accurate quantification (Huggett *et al.* 2005).

The procedure is as follows; firstly, primers for qPCR are designed using a software. The primers specificity is initially verified using a CHECK PROBE program provided by the RDP (Ribosomal Database Project) database analysis. To determine gene copy numbers of unknown samples, one calibration curve is run routinely with each sample set and compared with previous standard curves to check the variability of amplification efficiency. The total number of bacterial 16S rDNA genes is estimated using primers and genomic DNA is used to generate a calibration curve. The standard DNA is quantified using dye and a fluorometer, with the assistance of data analysis software. To determine the specificity of amplification, analysis of the product melting curve and PCR products are tested for the correct PCR product length by agarose gel electrophoresis, and selected PCR products are sequenced to verify primer specificity (Muttray *et al.* 2001).

Muttray *et al.* (2001) analyzed, by PCR and RT-PCR, population dynamics and metabolic activity of *Pseudomonas abietaniphila* (isolated) within pulp mill wastewater microbial communities. Besides, dominant phylogenetic groups of the domain bacteria were studied by Reid *et al.* (2008) in a model plant-based industrial wastewater treatment system (mixed liquor samples). Three important operational taxonomy units (OUT), represented with high relative abundances were analyzed by quantitative PCR to confirm their abundance in the community profile.

#### Reverse Sample Genome Probing (RSGP)

This technique involves the blotting of DNA from individual strains onto filters that are then probed with DNA extracted from environmental samples. Metagenomic DNA, after it is extracted and purified, is radiolabelled and used to probe a master filter that contains chromosomal DNA from individual standard microorganism of interest bonded to a nylon membrane. The information obtained is limited to the culturable component of the microbial community. RSGP thus measures microbial diversity in the selected target environment by following the fate of selected culturable community members (Greene and Voordouw 2004). It is used to examine quickly if cultivable species were found in samples (Fulthorpe *et al.* 1993).

Gilbride and Fulthorpe in 2004 used RSGP to compare the culturable bacteria from several communities geographically separated from a pulp-mill biotreatment system. *Ancylobacter* spp., *Xanthobacter* spp., *Comomonas* spp., *Klebsiella* spp., *Pseudomonas* spp., *Sphingomonas* spp., *Blastobacter* spp., *Moraxella* spp., *Burkholderia* spp., *Ralstonia* spp., *Xanthomonas* spp., and *Acidovorax* spp. were used in this study. There was little overlap in the composition of the culturable community between mills at the genus level. The RGSP results just showed that these selected culturable isolates represent a very small percentage of the population.

#### Fluorescent in Situ Hybridization (FISH)

The FISH procedure enables *in situ* phylogenetic identification and enumeration of individual microbial cells by whole cell hybridization with oligonucleotide probes (Amann *et al.* 1995). A large number of molecular probes targeting 16S rDNA genes have been reported at various taxonomic levels (Amann *et al.* 1995). The FISH probes are generally 18 to 30 nucleotides long and contain a fluorescent dye at the 5' end that allows detection of probe bound to rRNA by epifluorescence microscopy. It is a relatively fast technique, if the probes are available in the market, it allows the differentiation of active microorganisms, and it does not require highly trained personnel. The disadvantages of this technique are based on the time and work required for the design of the probes, which in some cases are not as specific when taking metabolic criteria. In addition, for quantification, image analysis is often difficult.

Few experiments have been used to investigate and enumerate the different bacterial groups present at particular stages through the wastewater treatment system. For example, the diversity and abundance of three dominant genera, *Aeromonas*, *Pseudomonas*, and *Bacillus* were investigated in a pulp and paper wastewater by enrichment with <sup>15</sup>N<sub>2</sub> by Addison *et al.* (2010, 2011); specific probes were used to investigate and enumerate the different bacterial groups present at particular stages through the wastewater treatment system over an extended period.

# Enterobacterial Repetitive Intergenic Consensus Polymerase Chain Reaction (ERIC-PCR)

ERIC-PCR is a powerful method for DNA fingerprinting; this method is faster, simpler, and more economical than other genomic typing methods. Repeated oligonucleotides are used as a starter of DNA synthesis when there is no need for information on the target DNA sequence, which makes it a powerful method with general applications (Eriksson *et al.* 2005). The primers are designed so that amplification occurs between copies of the ERIC sequence; if the positions of copies vary among different strains, the amplification products provide each with a unique fingerprint when run on a gel (Wilson and Sharp 2006). Unfortunately, amplification using ERIC-PCR primers indicates that ERIC sequences are not widespread among bacteria (Wilson and Sharp 2006). Therefore, it is not recommended for studies of bacterial communities because it is very specific.

Singh *et al.* (2011) studied the presence of *Enterobacter* sp. with the ability to degrade tannic acid for the treatment of effluents from pulp and paper in the shortest time, using ERIC-PCR and for identification, and 16S rDNA was sequenced.

#### Repetitive Extragenic Palindromic – PCR (REP-PCR)

REP-PCR is mainly used to distinguish isolates belonging to the Enterobacteriaceae family (Zelazny *et al.* 2009). It is based on primers that are complementary to naturally occurring, highly conserved, extragenic, repetitive DNA sequences throughout the genome of most bacteria. REP sequences are found associated with 30% of bacterial operons. Amplification of DNA between REP sites produce highly reproducible fingerprints with single isolates (Rademaker and de Bruijn 1997). In this method, DNA isolated from a microorganism is extracted and then amplified with specific oligonucleotides; PCR products are separated on agarose gels 1% stained with ethidium bromide, and subsequently photographed (De Brujin 1992). There are kits in the market such as DiversiLab, which allows for automated detection, standardization, and analysis using a software (Healy *et al.* 2005).

Baker *et al.* (2003) analyzed the bacterial communities of seven treatment systems of pulp and paper wastewater. They compared RISA, RFLP, and REP-PCR methods and reported that the REP-PCR was the one that showed a higher degree of resolution, with different patterns for each sample at different times and sampling points. In this study individual members of the communities were not identified (Rademaker and de Bruijn 1997). The sensitivity of this method might potentially be used to monitor the stability of the bacterial community within a secondary treatment system (Baker *et al.* 2003). However, REP-PCR test is not an accurate tool for identifying organisms to the subspecies level (Mougari *et al.* 2014).

#### **Community Profiling or DNA Fingerprinting**

DNA fingerprinting concerns the electrophoretic band pattern obtained through specific typing methods based upon DNA (Albuquerque *et al.* 2009). DNA fingerprinting techniques provide efficient information to monitor microbial communities. The band patterns generated from PCR amplified DNA is separated by electrophoresis. It offers the advantage of identifying non-dependent culture microorganisms. Comparison of fingerprints provides a relative measure of communities' similarity, which can be used to compare different communities or monitor a community over time (Yu and Mohn 2001).

DNA fingerprinting profiles usually involve fairly large numbers (20 to 40) of individually segregating fragments. These fingerprinting techniques are basically of two kinds: hybridization and PCR (Reineke and Devi 2013). DNA fingerprinting techniques generate a profile of microbial communities based on the direct analysis of the PCR products from environmental samples of DNA. These techniques include DGGE/ TGGE, RAPD, ARDRA, T-RFLP, and RISA. DNA fingerprinting techniques are quick and allow simultaneous analysis of multiple samples. Genetic fingerprints of different samples are compared using cluster analysis by software packages such as GelCompar (Rastogi and Sani 2011).

#### Random Amplified Polymorphic DNA (RAPD)

RAPD utilizes PCR amplification with a short (usually 10 nucleotides) primer, which anneals randomly at multiple sites on the genomic DNA under low annealing temperature, typically  $\leq$ 35 °C (Franklin *et al.* 1999). This method generates PCR amplicons of various lengths in a single reaction that is separated on agarose or polyacrylamide gels depending on the genetic complexity of the microbial communities. The major disadvantage to RAPD-PCR is its inability to yield reproducible polymorphism under varying laboratory conditions (Srivastava *et al.* 2012). To overcome this problem, it is necessary to develop co-dominant markers from dominant markers to avoid lengthy RAPD reaction (Li *et al.* 2010). Such markers are typical oligonucleotides designed from the sequences of the amplicon of RAPD, and they mostly have a high probability of producing polymorphic amplicons (Cheng *et al.* 2015).

Yang *et al.* (2008) isolated 38 strains of bacteria from black liquor and 11 PCR-DNA profiles. These were grouped as 11 operational taxonomy units (OTUs) using random amplified polymorphic DNA-PCR profiles (RAPD). There were 11 representative strains of each OTU, which were identified as *Halomonas* and *Bacillus* genera. Besides, Zhan *et al.* (2010) analyzed the diversity of bacterial communities in a batch reactor containing wastewater of a pulp and paper industry using the RAPD method. In this work, different primers where tested, and it was found that the optimal was S308 (CAGGGTGGA). The RAPD-PCR fingerprints showed very high polymorphism of the genetic bands (78 to 100%). Four groups of species were clustered using the un-weighted pair group method with arithmetic (UPGMA) analysis, and the genetic distance was close between the species within each group, however, were not identified. Scanning electron microscope indicated that *coccus* and *bacillus* became the dominant species in matured active sludge.

#### Amplified Ribosomal DNA Restriction Analysis (ARDRA)

ARDRA is based on DNA sequence variations present in PCR-amplified 16S rDNA genes (Smit *et al.* 1997). The PCR product amplified from environmental DNA is generally digested with tetra cutter restriction endonucleases (*e.g. Alu*I, and *Hae*III), and restricted fragments are resolved on agarose or polyacrylamide gels. Although ARDRA provides little or no information about the type of microorganisms present in the sample, the method is still useful for rapid monitoring of microbial communities over time, or to compare microbial diversity in response to changing environmental conditions (Rastogi and Sani 2011). The major limitations of ARDRA is that restriction profiles generated from complex microbial communities are occasionally too difficult to determine by agarose/PAGE (Smit *et al.* 1997).

This technique has not been used in biological effluent treatment pulp and paper; however, it has been successfully used in industrial wastewater by Prinčič *et al.* (1998), Sarti *et al.* (2012), Gich *et al.* (2010), and Shah (2014).

#### **Terminal Restriction Fragment Length Polymorphism (RFLP)**

RFLP analysis is a rapid, technologically simple, and highly reproducible method and consists of PCR-based amplification of a fragment of DNA, usually a gene or a part of a gene, combined with succeeding restriction digestion of the PCR product and electrophoretic analysis of RFLP. It can therefore be used to differentiate between species and strains of living organisms as a shortcut to sequence determination (Vaneechoutte and Heyndrickx 2001). In the RLFP the PCR products are digested with restriction enzymes, and terminal restriction fragments (T-RFs) are separated on an automated DNA sequencer. This method uses capillary sequencing technology allowing samples contained in 96 or 384 well plates to be sized (Thies 2007). Terminally fluorescent labeled restriction fragments are detected, thus simplifying the banding pattern and allowing analysis of complex microbial communities (Rastogi and Sani 2011).

The study of the bacterial communities from seven pulp and paper wastewater treatment systems by 16S-RFLP analysis, was performed. Community similarity coefficients were based on quantitative determinations of both the positions of the DNA bands and the band intensities in order to compare the relative differences in the populations and a dendrogram was generated for all mills. Mostly, samples from each mill formed individual clusters. Similarities with and between mills were derived from this dendrogram, *i.e.*, the similarity value of the node where all samples from one mill converge and defines similarity within-mill. Similarity between 16S-RFLP profiles from mills was partially correlated to wood furnish (Baker et al. 2003). This method was not sensitive enough to detect differences within a mill treatment system from different locations or from different sampling times. Subsequently, Gilbride and Fulthorpe (2004) performed RFLP analysis on both whole communities and individual cultured isolates to compare and contrast the microbial populations from 10 pulp and paper mill systems. All the communities shared 60% of their DNA band pattern. Partial sequences of the 16S rRNA genes from culturable isolates were identified as Ancylobacter aquaticus, Blastobacter sp., Comamonas sp., Klebsiella sp., Bacillus spp., Pseudomonas spp., and *Xanthobacter* sp.

The bacterial community composition, functional stability, and N<sub>2</sub>-fixing were investigated at the pilot plant level. DNA of mixed liquor samples was extracted and collected from pulp and paper-activated sludge wastewater treatment and was amplified up to 1.5 kb. Clones previously obtained were differentiated by RFLP with the restriction enzyme, *Hha*I (Amersham). Fragment analysis was performed using an Applied Biosystems automated DNA sequencer model 377-XL, and the sizes of the 5' terminal restriction fragments (TRFs) and the intensities of their fluorescence emission signals (peak area) were calculated using software GelCompar II. The results suggest that the bacterial populations are distinct among treatment systems and stable from the bacterial population viewpoint. The bacterial community composition was dominated by  $\alpha$ -Proteobacteria and  $\beta$ -Proteobacteria, with a lesser amount of the highly diverse bacterial phylum Bacteroidetes (Reid *et al.* 2008).

### **Denaturing Gradient Gel Electrophoresis (DGGE)**

DGGE was developed and applied in microbial ecology for the first time by Muyzer et al. (1993), and it has been used for the rapid fingerprint analysis of the structure, diversity, and dynamics of the microbial population in complex ecosystems (Green et al. 2017). This method allows rapid detection of microbial community changes and information about composition (Gilbride et al. 2006). Joshi et al. (2014) mentioned that the method makes it possible to differentiate the microbial community with a simple banding pattern and allows for easy monitoring of community dynamics in a sample, based on the analysis of the relative intensity of bands. PCR products are obtained from environmental DNA using specific primers for a molecular marker (for example the 16S rDNA gene). In bacteria, the V3 hypervariable region of rRNA is the most studied. The primers used are the PRBA 338F, (ACTCCTACGGGAGGCAGCAG), and 5'PRUN 518R (5'ATTACCG-CGGCTGCTGG). One of the primers regularly contains a guanine and cytosine rich sequence (GC-clamp), which enables the double chain to remain stable until higher denaturant concentrations are reached. The polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis contains a linear denaturing gradient of DNA formed by a mixture of urea and formamide. DGGE technique is related to the difference in allelic DNA sequences of interest (amplicons generated previously) based on the differentiation of migration in a denaturing gradient gel (Rastogi and Sani 2011; Reineke and Devi 2013; Kapley and Purohit 2009). After electrophoresis, DNA fragments are excised from the gel, reamplified, and subsequently the PCR products are purified before sequencing (Eyers et al. 2004).

Gilbride and Fulthorpe (2004) recommend using DGGE to obtain a finer separation of the bands and thus be able to sequence and identify key species in the treatment of pulp and paper mill effluent. The studies that have been carried out in this area are as follows:

Buzzini *et al.* (2006) analyzed an anaerobic consortium collected from the reactors sludge blanket (UASB). DNA was extracted and amplified (approximately 400 bp). Formamide and urea concentrations of 40 to 60% for bacteria and 35 to 55 % for *Archaea*, were used as denaturing gradient. The running conditions were 130V for 390 min at constant temperature. Under the conditions used in this work, DGGE technique makes it possible to observe the variation of microbial populations during operation. The authors mention that bacteria were responsible for the degradation of organic matter.

Another study in this area was carried out by Yang *et al.* (2008). The black liquor was sampled for community dynamics analysis by DGGE fingerprinting during the batch treatment process. PCR amplification of the 16S ribosomal RNA gene and DGGE was used to analyze a two-stage treatment mechanism to explain the interspecies (*Halomonas* and *Bacillus*) collaboration. During this step 16S rDNA gene V3 region was amplified, a linear 30 to 55% denaturant gradient was used, and the electrophoresis was performed a constant voltage of 200 V at 60 °C for 240 min. DGGE profiles were analyzed using Quantity One (version 4.6.2, BioRad, USA). *Halomonas* isolates were important in the first stage to produce organic acids that contributed to the pH decline, while *Bacillus* isolates were involved in the degradation of lignin derivatives in the second stage under lower pH conditions. It has been mentioned that this technique does not allow the quantification of cells. However, Moura *et al.* (2009) examined DGGE patterns using two indexes, the Shannon–Weaver index and the equitability index. The diversity was calculated based on the relative intensity of DNA bands obtained from wastewater

samples from cheese industry. The effectiveness of this approach in getting new data concerning the structure, dynamics, and diversity of these communities was demonstrated.

The disadvantages of this technique are: 1) The target DNA is less than 1% of the total population and is therefore unlikely to be detected by DGGE (Muyzer *et al.* 1993). Thus, the banding profiles will be representative of microorganisms predominant in the samples. 2) This technique allows the separation of small fragments (500 to 700 bp), however, with information from short fragments belonging to variable regions, V2 and V4 regions may be sufficient for identification at the genus level (with a lower error rate) (Wang *et al.* 2007) 3) Bands cannot always be differentiated, since biases associated with PCR amplifications are also incorporated into the analysis (Green *et al.* 2017), and 4) The sequencing of excised bands is not always effective. Eyers *et al.* (2004) recommends to clone the PCR products into a cloning vector before sequencing.

#### **Temperature Gradient Gel Electrophoresis (TGGE)**

TGGE is based on the same principle of DGGE except that a temperature gradient is applied rather than a chemical denaturalization. The sequence of different amplicons determines the melting behavior, so that sequences achieve migration to different positions of the gel. During the amplification step, a staple or "clamp" composed of guanines and cytosines (about 30 to 50 nucleotides) is added. This in order that the DNA strands do not separate completely during electrophoresis. To determine the phylogenetic identities, the gel bands must be excised, reamplified, and sequenced or transferred to nylon membranes and hybridized with specific molecular probes for different taxonomic groups (Muhling *et al.* 2008).

#### **Ribosomal Intergenic Spacer Analysis (RISA)**

RISA involves PCR amplification of a portion of the intergenic spacer region (ISR) present between the small (16S) and large (23S) ribosomal subunits (Fisher and Triplett 1999). The ISR contains significant heterogeneity in both length and nucleotide sequence. By using primers annealing to conserved regions in the 16S and 23S rDNA genes, RISA profiles can be generated from most of the dominant bacteria existing in an environmental sample. RISA provides a community-specific profile, with each band corresponding at least to one organism of the original community. The RISA method can be used to generate more complex fingerprints than 16S-RFLP and discern differences between samples (Baker *et al.* 2003).

Publications that further illustrate the application of RISA are as follows: Yu and Mohn (2001) investigated the bacterial community structure in an aerated plug-flow lagoon treating pulp and paper mill effluent. For this research, they developed a composite method based on analyses of PCR amplicons containing the ribosomal intergenic spacer (RISA) and its flanking partial 16S rDNA gene. Community similarity percent was determined based on RISA length polymorphism. The rDNA-RIS fragments were sequenced, and phylogenetic analysis yielded organisms belonging to *Methylobacillus flagellatum*, *Azospirillum lipoferum*, *Bacteroides putredinis*, and *Reclinomonas americana*. Smith *et al.* (2003) analyzed samples from non-clarified effluent taken from the pulp and paper mill factory. From the DNA samples, rDNA-RIS fragments were amplified using the universal bacterial primers S926f and L189r, the rDNA-RIS amplicons contained approximately 600 bp of the 16S rDNA (3' end) plus the

RIS region and approximately 190 bp of the 23S rDNA (5' end). PCR products were purified and separated on a polyacrylamide gel. Subsequently, the band patterns were observed with UV light. The library was later built and the resulting clones were digested with restriction enzymes. The profile of bands was compared and identical patterns were considered to represent one phylotype.

### ADVANCED MOLECULAR TECHNIQUES

Fingerprint methods based on the 16S rDNA gene sequence have been displaced by high throughput sequencing. Therefore, the limitations of the above-mentioned techniques seem to have been overcome. The dideoxy sequencing method developed by Sanger and Coulson (1975) has been the most commonly used DNA sequencing technique. Previous techniques usually required the cloning of DNA fragments into bacterial vectors, amplification, and purification of individual templates, followed by Sanger sequencing (Margulies *et al.* 2005). However, a long time passed before an automated and cheaper method appeared (Ronaghi *et al.* 1998; Patrick 2007).

Microbial ecologists have largely abandoned sequencing 16S rRNA genes by the Sanger sequencing method and have instead adopted new parallelized sequencing (Schloss *et al.* 2016). The advent of DNA sequencing techniques in past years has far exceeded expectations (Ansorge *et al.* 2017). Recently developed high-throughput sequencing technology is a highly efficient tool for identifying the entire profile of microbial communities (Ma *et al.* 2015) and is a promising method, as it provides enough sequencing depth to cover the complex microbial communities (Shendure and Ji 2008).

#### **Next-generation Sequencing**

Next generation sequencing or high-throughput sequencing are the terms to describe several modern techniques such as pyrosequencing analysis, massively parallel signature sequencing (MPSS), single-cell genome sequencing *etc.*, which make it possible to obtain information much faster and more cheaply. The DNA of the entire community is extracted and purified, and the specific genes such as the 16s rDNA are amplified. Each primer is encoded with short tags, as well as sequencing adapters. Thus, multiple sequences can be grouped and read simultaneously (Zhou *et al.* 2015).

Third-generation sequencing technology has been speedily developed and is capable of providing data for small genome analysis, or performing targeted screening, that promises the high quality *in novo* assembly and structural variation detection (Lu *et al.* 2016). The emergence of next generation sequencing (NGS) or massive sequencing has generated a huge number of sequences available at low cost to explore microbial structure with higher resolution (Liu *et al.* 2012). To date, fourth-generation DNA sequencing technology has the potential to quickly and reliably sequence the entire human genome. This technology allows us to further study the interplay between DNA and protein, as well as between protein and protein (Feng *et al.* 2015).

The evolution of this method may allow researchers to discover and monitor species interactions under various environmental conditions and within a replicated experimental design framework (Vacher *et al.* 2016). Despite their ability to produce only very short reads, NGS technologies have revolutionized genome analysis. The major advances are such as high speed, cell-free library construction, ability to run thousands

to millions of sequencing reactions in parallel, direct detection without the need for electrophoresis, and sequencing in real time. These technologies are becoming a potential tool for gene expression analysis, especially for those species having reference genome sequences already available time (Rajesh and Jaya 2017).

### Pyrosequencing Analysis

Pyrosequencing is a DNA sequencing technique-utilizing bioluminescence coupled to enzymatic reactions and control the incorporation of nucleotides that are accompanied by release of pyrophosphate in real time. It is the first alternative to the conventional Sanger method and is based on the detection of pyrophosphate during DNA synthesis. It has advantages of precision, flexibility, parallel processing, and easy automation. Furthermore, the technique does not need to use primers, labeled nucleotides, or gel electrophoresis (Fakruddin and Chowdhury 2012).

The method comprises binding DNA to single strands of a sphere (a strand by area), through an adapter, after which they are subjected to *in vitro* cloning. After the spheres are charged, the addition of the polymerase DNA enzymes occurs by means of sulfurylase, luciferase ATP, and apyrase, with APS and luciferin substrates. Then the reaction solution, *i.e.* one dNTP at a time, in cycles is added. The cascade begins with the release of pyrophosphate, which is converted to ATP by sulfurylase enzyme in the presence of APS. The ATP produced drives the conversion of luciferin to oxyluciferin, generating light. The emitted light is detected by a Charge Coupled Device (CCD) camera and is observed as a pic in the pyrogram, proportional to the number of nucleotides incorporated (Fakruddin and Chowdhury 2012). All these steps replace the intense labor of cloning individual DNA molecules and eliminate biases that can be introduced by cloning a population of fragments. Later, a computer records the light release, logs the sequence of the DNA in each well, and interprets the data to align smaller bits of sequence into a full genome sequence (Margulies et al. 2005). The method has the capability of delivering explicit information within minutes. Furthermore, is able to produce the longest reads of any NGS system, about 700 bp, and approaches the data generated by Sanger chemistry (Myllykangas et al. 2012).

Ketep *et al.* (2014) analyzed microbial-anodes (graphite plates) in effluents from a pulp and paper mill. The microbial communities of the six bioanodes were characterized after one month of polarization. The sequencing run was performed on a 70675 GS PicoTiterPlate by using a Genome Sequencer FLX System (Roche, Nutley, NJ) and the sequence was trimmed to Q25. The most abundant taxonomic group was Proteobacteria (40 to 50%) in all bioanodes and, among them, Deltaproteobacteria. Recently, bacterial communities were examined in a river close to the dumping sites of pulp and paper mills. The 16S RNA V5–V6 region was amplified and sequenced by a MiSeq Sequencing system (Illumina). The results indicated that bacterial communities in downstream sediments were similar to those in paper mill discharge sites. The following genera were identified: *Leadbetterella* spp., *Rheinheimera* spp., *Rhodobacter* spp., *Thiobacillus* spp., *Algoriphagus* spp., *Polaromonas* spp., *Flavobacterium* spp., and *Psychrobacter* spp. (Guo *et al.* 2016).

#### Single-cell Genome Sequencing

The field of single-cell genomics is developing rapidly. This has produced many new insights into complex biological systems, ranging from the diversity of microbial ecosystems to the genomics (Gawad *et al.* 2016). For example, microbial communities were examined in aquatic environmental, using single-cell genomics (Brown *et al.* 2015), generating complete or near-complete genomes from many novel lineages. The steps involves: cell isolation, amplification, interrogation of whole-genome-amplification (WGA) products, overview of single-cell sequencing errors, single-cell variant calling, and determining genetic relationships between single cells. The challenges for this method are efficient separation and amplification of cells (Gawad *et al.* 2016).

#### Massively Parallel Signature Sequencing (MPSS)

Massively parallel signature sequencing is a high-throughput sequencing technology, based in the combination of *in-vitro* cloning of template DNA onto microbeads by making a complex mixture of template oligonucleotide tag conjugates, followed by cycles of ligation-based DNA sequencing (Rajesh and Jaya 2017).

A mixture of adapters (that includes all possible overhangs) with a type II restriction endonuclease is annealed to the target sequence, generating a perfect complementary single adapter. Each adapter has a unique label, and the overhangs that they represent are first detected after ligation. As the numbers of oligonucleotide tags are presented at a magnitude of 100 times more than the template, it is ensured that every template sample is conjugated to a unique tag. By monitoring successful adapter ligations onto a surface of microbeads in a flow cell, millions signatures are obtained. All of microbeads are employed, and a single copy of the template is attached to each bead. The next sequencing reaction results produces of millions of signature sequences. Later, scission with a type IIs endonuclease further show other bases for identification in subsequent cycles. Whereas each microbead is subjected to successive cycles of ligation, signature identification, and cleavage, the use of the flow cell ensures that all the microbeads remain in a closely packed monolayer. Fluorescent signals from the array of microbeads are acquired onto a CCD camera leading to a digital representation of each microbead, and image-processing software then tracks the positions of fluorescent signals from individual microbeads in the flow cell (Brenner et al. 2000; Rajesh and Jaya 2017).

#### CONCLUSIONS

Nowadays, a great variety of molecular methods are available that provide more information than the culture methods. That is, microorganisms can be identified without being seeded in culture media. These molecular methods help researchers to better understand the diversity of microorganisms and understand how biological processes occur. Quantitative assessment of microbial communities is the greatest challenge due to significant biases associated with nucleic acid isolation and amplification by PCR. It requires more advanced DNA/RNA extraction techniques for environmental samples.

NGS technologies has revolutionized genome analysis, allowing the identification of all microbial communities. NGS in combination with fingerprint methods allow the identification and analyze all biodiversity of bacterial communities. It is possible to monitor them through the debugging process (*i.e.* DGGE and T-RFLP); to characterize and measure abundance of complete bacterial communities (i.e. qPCR and NGS). In the case of ARDRA and TGGE methods, there are no reports or studies on the application of these techniques in pulp and paper effluents for identification of microorganisms; nevertheless, ARDRA can be used to monitor specific species.

The application of traditional and molecular techniques, has allowed glimpsing into the "black box", and getting information to improve the wastewater treatment process. However, it is necessary to establish a procedure for correlating the microbiological data with the depuration process. Monitoring the changes in the microbial population as a function of the substrate composition, environmental conditions and, eventually seasonal changes.

## ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The support of the Science and Technology National Council (CONACyT) is gratefully appreciated, as it was received by one of the writers for the scholarship (419668/257494).

# **REFERENCES CITED**

- Addison, S. L., McDonald, I. R., and Lloyd-Jones, G. (2010). "Identifying diazotrophs by incorporation of nitrogen from 15N2 into RNA," *Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology* 87(6), 2313-2322. DOI: 10.1007/s00253-010-2731-z
- Addison, S., Slade, A., and Dennis, M. (2011). "Effects of substrate composition on the structure of microbial communities in wastewater using fluorescence *in situ* hybridization," *Systematic and Applied Microbiology* 34(5), 337-343. DOI: 10.1016/j.syapm.2010.10.006
- Albuquerque, P., Mendes, M. V., Santos, C. L., Moradas-Ferreira, P., and Tavares, F. (2009). "DNA signature-based approaches for bacterial detection and identification," *Science of the Total Environment* 407(12), 3641-3651. DOI: 10.1016/j.scitotenv.2008.10.054
- Amann, R., Lemmer, H., and Wagner, M. (1998). "Monitoring the community structure of wastewater treatment plants: A comparison of old and new techniques," *FEMS Microbiology Ecology* 25(3), 205-215. DOI: 10.1016/S0168-6496(98)00006-3
- Amann, R. I., Ludwig, W., and Schleifer, K. H. (1995). "Phylogenetic identification and in situ detection of individual microbial cells without cultivation," *Microbiol. Rev.* 59, 143-169.
- Ansorge, W. J., Katsila, T., and Patrinos, G. P. (2017). Perspectives for Future DNA Sequencing Techniques and Applications. Molecular Diagnostics (Third Edition), Academic Press, Chapter 8, 141-153. DOI: 10.1016/B978-0-12-802971-8.00008-0
- Baker, C. J. O., Fulthorpe, R. R., and Gilbride, K. A. (2003). "An assessment of variability of pulp mill wastewater treatment system bacterial communities using molecular methods," *Water Qual. Res. J. Can.* 38, 227-242.
- Beauchamp, C. J., Simao-Beaunoir, A. M., Beaulieu, C., and Chalifour, F. P. (2006). "Confirmation of *E. coli* among other thermotolerant coliform bacteria in paper mill effluents, wood chips screening rejects and paper sludges," *Water Research* 40(12), 2452-2462. DOI: 10.1016/j.watres.2006.04.002

Bitton, G. (2005). *Wastewater Microbiology*, John Wiley & Sons, Inc., pp. 609-728. DOI: 10.1002/0471717967

Brenner, S., Johnson, M., Bridgham, J., Golda, G., Lloyd, D. H., Johnson, D., Luo, S., McCurdy, S., Foy, M., and Ewan, M. (2000). "Gene expression analysis by massively parallel signature sequencing (MPSS) on microbead arrays," *Nature Biotechnology* 18(6), 630-634. DOI: 10.1038/76469

Brown, C. T., Hug, L. A., Thomas, B. C., Sharon, I., Castelle, C. J., Singh, A., Wilkins, M. J., Wrighton, K. C., Williams, K. H., and Banfield, J. F. (2015). "Unusual biology across a group comprising more than 15% of domain bacteria," *Nature* 523(7559), 208-211. DOI: 10.1038/nature14486

Buzzini, A. P., Sakamoto, I. K., Varesche, M. B., and Pires, E. C. (2006). "Evaluation of the microbial diversity in an UASB reactor treating wastewater from an unbleached pulp plant," *Process Biochemistry* 41(1), 168-176. DOI: 10.1016/j.procbio.2005.06.009

Chandra, R., Raj, A., Purohit, H. J., and Kapley, A. (2007). "Characterisation and optimisation of three potential aerobic bacterial strains for kraft lignin degradation from pulp paper waste," *Chemosphere* 67(4), 839-846. DOI: 10.1016/j.chemosphere.2006.10.011

- Chen, K., and Pachter, L. (2005). "Bioinformatics for whole-genome shotgun sequencing of microbial communities," *PLoS Comput. Biol.* 1(2), e24. DOI: 10.1371/journal.pcbi.0010024
- Cheng, J., Long, Y., Khan, M. A., Wei, C., Fu, S., and Fu, J. (2015). "Development and significance of RAPD-SCAR markers for the identification of *Litchi chinensis* Sonn. by improved RAPD amplification and molecular cloning," *Electronic Journal of Biotechnology* 18(1), 35-39. DOI: 10.1016/j.ejbt.2014.11.004
- Choi, K.-H., and Dobbs, F. C. (1999). "Comparison of two kinds of Biolog microplates (GN and ECO) in their ability to distinguish among aquatic microbial communities," *Journal of Microbiological Methods* 36(3), 203-213. DOI: 10.1016/S0167-7012(99)00034-2
- Chuphal, Y., Kumar, V., and Thakur, I. S. (2005). "Biodegradation and decolorization of pulp and paper mill effluent by anaerobic and aerobic microorganisms in a sequential bioreactor," *World Journal of Microbiology and Biotechnology* 21(8), 1439-1445. DOI: 10.1007/s11274-005-6562-5
- Clarridge, J. E. (2004). "Impact of 16S rRNA gene sequence analysis for identification of bacteria on clinical microbiology and infectious diseases," *Clinical Microbiology Reviews* 17(4), 840-862. DOI: 10.1128/CMR.17.4.840-862.2004
- Daims, H., Taylor, M. W., and Wagner, M. (2006). "Wastewater treatment: A model system for microbial ecology," *Trends in Biotechnology* 24(11), 483-489. DOI: 10.1016/j.tibtech.2006.09.002
- De Brujin, F. J. (1992). "Use of repetitive (repetitive extragenic palindromic and enterobacterial repetitive intergeneric consensus) sequences and the polymerase chain reaction to fingerprint the genomes of *Rhizobium meliloti* isolates and other soil bacteria," *Applied and Environmental Microbiology* 58, 2180-2187.
- Del Casale, A., Flanagan, P. V., Larkin, M. J., Allen, C. C. R., and Kulakov, L. A. (2011). "Analysis of transduction in wastewater bacterial populations by targeting the phage-derived 16S rRNA gene sequences," *Fems Microbiology Ecology* 76(1), 100-108. DOI: 10.1111/j.1574-6941.2010.01034.x

- DeSantis, T. Z., Brodie, E. L., Moberg, J. P., Zubieta, I. X., Piceno, Y. M., and Andersen, G. L. (2007). "High-density universal 16S rRNA microarray analysis reveals broader diversity than typical clone library when sampling the environment," *Microbial Ecology* 53(3), 371-383. DOI: 10.1007/s00248-006-9134-9
- Dunlap, P. V. (2001). "Microbial diversity A2," Levin, S. A. (ed.), *Encyclopedia of Biodiversity* (Second Ed.), Academic Press, Waltham, pp. 280-291.
- Eriksson, J., Löfström, C., Aspán, A., Gunnarsson, A., Karlsson, I., Borch, E., de Jong, B., and Rådström, P. (2005). "Comparison of genotyping methods by application to *Salmonella livingstone* strains associated with an outbreak of human salmonellosis," *International Journal of Food Microbiology* 104(1), 93-103. DOI: 10.1016/j.ijfoodmicro.2005.01.011
- Eyers, L., Agathos, S. N., and El Fantroussi, S. (2004). "Denaturing gradient gel electrophoresis (DGGE) as a fingerprinting tool for analyzing microbial communities in contaminated environments," in: *Environmental Microbiology: Methods and Protocols*, J. M. Walker, J. F. T. Spencer, and A. L. Ragout de Spencer (eds.), Humana Press, Totowa, NJ, pp. 407-417. DOI: 10.1385/1-59259-765-3:407
- Fakruddin, M., and Chowdhury, A. (2012). "Pyrosequencing an alternative to traditional Sanger sequencing," Am. J. Biochem. Biotechnol. 8(1), 14-20. DOI: 10.3844/ajbbsp.2012.14.20
- Feng, Y., Zhang, Y., Ying, C., Wang, D., and Du, C. (2015). "Nanopore-based fourthgeneration DNA sequencing technology," *Genomics, Proteomics & Bioinformatics* 13(1), 4-16. DOI: 10.1016/j.gpb.2015.01.009
- Fisher, M. M., and Triplett, E. W. (1999). "Automated approach for ribosomal intergenic spacer analysis of microbial diversity and its application to freshwater bacterial communities," *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 65, 4630-4636.
- Forster, S., Lappin-Scott, H. M., Snape, J. R., and Porter, J. (2003). "Rains, drains and active strains: Towards online assessment of wastewater bacterial communities," *Journal of Microbiological Methods* 55(3), 859-864. DOI: 10.1016/j.mimet.2003.08.004
- Fortin, N., Fulthorpe, R. R., Allen, D. G., and Greer, C. W. (1998). "Molecular analysis of bacterial isolates and total community DNA from kraft pulp mill effluent treatment systems," *Can. J. Microbiol.* 44, 537-546. DOI: 10.1139/cjm-44-6-537
- Franklin, R. B., Taylor, D. R., and Mills, A. L. (1999). "Characterization of microbial communities using randomly amplified polymorphic DNA (RAPD)," *J. Microbiol. Methods*. 35, 225-235. DOI: 10.1016/S0167-7012(99)00003-2
- Fulthorpe, R. R., Liss, S. N, and Allen, D. G. (1993). "Characterization of bacteria isolated from a bleached kraft pulp mill wastewater treatment system," *Canadian Journal of Microbiology* 39(1), 13-24. DOI: 10.1139/m93-003
- Gauthier, F., and Archibald, F. (2001). "The ecology of "fecal indicator" bacteria commonly found in pulp and paper mill water systems," *Water Research* 35(9), 2207-2218. DOI: 10.1016/S0043-1354(00)00506-6
- Gawad, C., Koh, W., and Quake, S. R. (2016). "Single-cell genome sequencing: Current state of the science," *Nat. Rev. Genet.* 17(3), 175-188. DOI: 10.1038/nrg.2015.16
- Gich, F. B., Amer, E., Figueras, J. B., Abella, C. A., Balaguer, M. D., Poch, M. (2010). "Assessment of microbial community structure changes by amplified ribosomal DNA restriction analysis (ARDRA)," *International Microbiology* 3(2), 103-106.

- Gilbride, K. A., and Fulthorpe, R. R. (2004). "A survey of the composition and diversity of bacterial populations in bleached kraft pulp-mill wastewater secondary treatment systems," *Canadian Journal of Microbiology* 50(8), 633-644. DOI: 10.1139/w04-031
- Gilbride, K. A., Frigon, D., Cesnik, A., Gawat, J., and Fulthorpe, R. R. (2006). "Effect of chemical and physical parameters on a pulp mill biotreatment bacterial community," *Water Research* 40(4), 775-787. DOI: 10.1016/j.watres.2005.12.007
- Green, S. J., Leigh, M. B., and Neufeld, J. D. (2017). "Denaturing gradient gel electrophoresis (DGGE) for microbial community analysis," in: *Hydrocarbon and Lipid Microbiology Protocols: Microbial Quantitation, Community Profiling and Array Approaches*, T. J. McGenity, K. N. Timmis, and B. Nogales (eds.), Heidelberg, Springer, Berlin, pp. 77-99. DOI: 10.1007/8623\_2015\_99
- Greene, E. A., and Voordouw, G. (2004). "Reverse sample genome probing to monitor microbial communities," in: *Methods in Biotechnology: Environmental Microbiology: Methods and Protocols*, J. F. T. Spencer and A. L Ragout de Spencer (eds.), Springer, Humana Press, pp. 11-22. DOI: 10.1385/1-59259-765-3:011
- Guo, J., Zhao, L., Lu, W., Jia, H., and Sun, Y. (2016). "Bacterial communities in water and sediment shaped by paper mill pollution and indicated bacterial taxa in sediment in Daling River," *Ecological Indicators* 60, 766-773. DOI: 10.1016/j.ecolind.2015.08.028
- Healy, M., Huong, J., Bittner, T., Lising, M., Frye, S., Raza, D., Schrock, R., Manry, J., Renwick, A., and Nieto, R. (2005). "Microbial DNA typing by automated repetitivesequence-based PCR," *Journal of Clinical Microbiology* 43(1), 199-207. DOI: 10.1128/JCM.43.1.199-207.2005
- Hooda, R., Bhardwaj, N. K., and Singh, P. (2015). "Screening and identification of ligninolytic bacteria for the treatment of pulp and paper mill effluent," *Water, Air, & Soil Pollution* 226(9), 1-11. DOI: 10.1007/s11270-015-2535-y
- Hugenholtz, P. (2002). "Exploring prokaryotic diversity in the genomic era," *Genome Biology* 3(2), 1-8. DOI: 10.1186/gb-2002-3-2-reviews0003
- Huggett, J., Dheda, K., Bustin, S., and Zumla, A. (2005). "Real-time RT-PCR normalisation; Strategies and considerations," *Genes and Immunity* 6(4), 279-284. DOI: 10.1038/sj.gene.6364190
- Hunter-Cevera, J. C. (1998). "The value of microbial diversity," *Current Opinion in Microbiology* 1(3), 278-285. DOI: 10.1016/S1369-5274(98)80030-1
- Joshi, G. K., Jugran, J., and Bhatt, J. P. (2014). "Metagenomics: The exploration of unculturable microbial world," in: *Advances in Biotechnology*. I. Ravi, M. Baunthiyal, and J. Saxena (eds.), New Delhi, Springer India: 105-115. DOI: 10.1007/978-81-322-1554-7\_7
- Kaiser, S. K., Guckert, J. B., and Gledhill, D. W. (1998). "Comparison of activated sludge microbial communities using Biolog<sup>™</sup> MicroPlates," *Water Science and Technology* 37(4-5): 57-63. DOI: 10.1016/S0273-1223(98)00084-5
- Kanto-Oqvist, C., Kurola, J., Pakarinen, J., Ekman, J, Ikavalko, S., Simell J., and Salkinoja-Salonen, M. (2008). "Prokaryotic microbiota of recycled paper mills with low or zero effluent," *J. Ind. Microbiol. Biotechnol.* 35, 1165-1173. DOI: 10.1007/s10295-008-0396-8
- Kapley, A., and Purohit, H. (2009). "Genomic tools in bioremediation," *Indian Journal of Microbiology* 49(2), 108-113. DOI: 10.1007/s12088-009-0012-2

- Ketep, S. F., Bergel, A., Bertrand, M., Barakat, M., Achouak, W., and Fourest, E. (2014). "Forming microbial anodes with acetate addition decreases their capability to treat raw paper mill effluent," *Bioresource Technology* 164, 285-291. DOI: 10.1016/j.biortech.2014.04.088
- Kirk, J. L., Beaudette, L. A., Hart, M., Moutoglis, P., Klironomos, J. N., Lee, H., and Trevors, J. T. (2004). "Methods of studying soil microbial diversity," *Journal of Microbiological Methods* 58(2), 169-188. DOI: 10.1016/j.mimet.2004.04.006
- Lewis, K., Epstein, S., D'Onofrio, A., and Ling, L. L. (2010). "Uncultured microorganisms as a source of secondary metabolites," *J. Antibiot.* 63(8), 468-476. DOI: 10.1038/ja.2010.87
- Li, S.-F., Tang, S.-J., and Cai, W.-Q. (2010). "RAPD-SCAR markers for genetically improved NEW GIFT Nile tilapia (*Oreochromis niloticus* niloticus L.) and their application in strain identification," *Zoological Research* 31(2), 147-153. DOI: 10.3724/SP.J.1141.2010.02147
- Liss, S. N., and Allen, D.G. (1992). "Microbiological study of bleached kraft pulp mill aerated lagoon," *J. Pulp Paper Sci.* 18, 216-221.
- Liu, L., Li, Y., Li, S., Hu, N., He, Y., Pong, R., Lin, D., Lu, L., and Law, M. (2012).
  "Comparison of next-generation sequencing systems," *Journal of Biomedicine and Biotechnology*, article 251364. DOI: 10.1155/2012/251364
- Lu, H., Giordano, F., and Ning, Z. (2016). "Oxford nanopore MinION sequencing and genome assembly," *Genomics, Proteomics & Bioinformatics* 14(5), 265-279. DOI: 10.1016/j.gpb.2016.05.004
- Ma, Q., Qu, Y., Shen, W., Zhang, Z., Wang, J., Liu, Z., Li, D., Li, H., and Zhou, J. (2015). "Bacterial community compositions of coking wastewater treatment plants in steel industry revealed by Illumina high-throughput sequencing," *Bioresource Technology* 179, 436-443. DOI: 10.1016/j.biortech.2014.12.041
- Manz, W., Amann, R., Ludwig, W., Wagner, M., and Schleifer, K. H. (1992).
  "Phylogenetic oligodeoxynucleotide probes for the major subclasses of proteobacteria: Problems and solutions," *Systematic and Applied Microbiology* 15(4), 593-600. DOI: 10.1016/S0723-2020(11)80121-9
- Margulies, M., Egholm, M., Altman, W. E., Attiya, S., Bader, J. S., Bemben, L. A., Berka, J., Braverman, M. S., Chen, Y.-J., and Chen, Z. (2005). "Genome sequencing in microfabricated high-density picolitre reactors," *Nature* 437(7057), 376-380. DOI: 10.1038/nature03959
- Mishra, M., and Thakur, I. S. (2010). "Isolation and characterization of alkalotolerant bacteria and optimization of process parameters for decolorization and detoxification of pulp and paper mill effluent by Taguchi approach," *Biodegradation* 21(6), 967-978. DOI: 10.1007/s10532-010-9356-x
- Mocali, S., and Benedetti, A. (2010). "Exploring research frontiers in microbiology: The challenge of metagenomics in soil microbiology," *Research in Microbiology* 161(6), 497-505. DOI: 10.1016/j.resmic.2010.04.010
- Mougari, F., Raskine, L., Ferroni, A., Marcon, E., Sermet-Gaudelus, I., Veziris, N., Heym, B., Gaillard, J.-L., Nassif, X., and Cambau, E. (2014). "Clonal relationship and differentiation among *Mycobacterium abscessus* isolates as determined using the semiautomated repetitive extragenic palindromic sequence PCR-based DiversiLab system," *Journal of Clinical Microbiology* 52(6), 1969-1977. DOI: 10.1128/JCM.03600-13

- Moura, A., Tacao, M., Henriques, I., Dias, J., Ferreira, P., and Correia, A. (2009).
  "Characterization of bacterial diversity in two aerated lagoons of a wastewater treatment plant using PCR-DGGE analysis," *Microbiological Research* 164(5), 560-569. DOI: 10.1016/j.micres.2007.06.005
- Muhling, M., Woolven-Allen, J., Murrell, J. C., and Joint, I. (2008). "Improved groupspecific PCR primers for denaturing gradient gel electrophoresis analysis of the genetic diversity of complex microbial communities," *ISME J* 2(4), 379-392. DOI: 10.1038/ismej.2007.97
- Muttray, A. F., Yu, Z., and Mohn, W. W. (2001). "Population dynamics and metabolic activity of *Pseudomonas abietaniphila* BKME-9 within pulp mill wastewater microbial communities assayed by competitive PCR and RT-PCR," *FEMS Microbiology Ecology* 38(1), 21-31. DOI: 10.1016/S0168-6496(01)00169-6
- Muyzer, G., de Waal, E. C., and Uitterlinden, A. G. (1993). "Profiling of complex microbial populations by denaturing gradient gel electrophoresis analysis of polymerase chain reaction-amplified genes coding for 16S Rrna," *Applied and Environmental Microbiology* 59(3), 695-700.
- Myllykangas, S., Buenrostro, J., and Ji, H. P. (2012). "Overview of sequencing technology platforms," in: *Bioinformatics for High Throughput Sequencing*, Springer, pp. 11-25. DOI: 10.1007/978-1-4614-0782-9\_2
- Ordaz-Díaz, L. A., Valle-Cervantes, S., Rojas-Contreras, J. A., Rodriguez-Flores F. J., and Bailón-Salas, A. M. (2016). "Optimization of a microbial formulation acclimated for pilot-scale biodegradation of paper mill effluent," *BioResources* 11(1), 1071-1079. DOI: 10.15376/biores.11.1.1071-1079
- Patrick, K. L. (2007). "454 life sciences: Illuminating the future of genome sequencing and personalized medicine," *Yale J. Biol. Med.* 80(4), 191-194.
- Petti, C. A., Polage, C. R., and Schreckenberger, P. (2005). "The role of 16S rRNA gene sequencing in identification of microorganisms misidentified by conventional methods," *Journal of Clinical Microbiology* 43(12), 6123-6125. DOI: 10.1128/JCM.43.12.6123-6125.2005
- Pougatch, K., Salcudean, M., Gartshore, I., and Pagoria, P. (2007). "Computational modelling of large aerated lagoon hydraulics," *Water Research* 41(10), 2109-2111. DOI: 10.1016/j.watres.2007.02.019
- Prinčič, A., Mahne, I., Megušar, F., Paul, E. A., and Tiedje, J. M. (1998). "Effects of pH and oxygen and ammonium concentrations on the community structure of nitrifying bacteria from wastewater," *Applied and Environmental Microbiology* 64(10), 3584-3590.
- Rademaker, J. L., and de Bruijn, F. J. (1997). "Characterization and classification of microbes by rep-PCR genomic fingerprinting and computer assisted pattern analysis," *DNA Markers: Protocols, Applications and Overviews* 1, 151-171.
- Rajesh, T., and Jaya, M. (2017). "Next-generation sequencing methods," in: *Current Developments in Biotechnology and Bioengineering*, Elsevier, Ch. 7, pp. 143-158. DOI: 10.1016/B978-0-444-63667-6.00007-9
- Rastogi, G., and Sani, R. (2011). "Molecular techniques to assess microbial community structure, function, and dynamics in the environment," in: *Microbes and Microbial Technology*, I. Ahmad, F. Ahmad, and J. Pichtel (eds.), Springer, New York, pp. 29-57. DOI: 10.1007/978-1-4419-7931-5\_2

4407

- Riesenfeld, C. S., Schloss, P. D., and Handelsman, J. (2004). "Metagenomics: Genomic analysis of microbial communities," *Annu. Rev. Genet.* 38, 525-552. DOI: 10.1146/annurev.genet.38.072902.091216
- Reid, N. M., Bowers, T. H., and Lloyd-Jones, G. (2008). "Bacterial community composition of a wastewater treatment system reliant on N<sub>2</sub> fixation," *Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology* 79(2), 285-292. DOI: 10.1007/s00253-008-1413-6
- Reineke, A., and Devi, K. U. (2013). "Analyzing microbes," in: Manual of Molecular Biology Techniques. Genetic Fingerprinting Techniques for Molecular Characterisation of Microbes, Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg, pp. 37-72. DOI: 10.1007/978-3-642-34410-7\_4

Ronaghi, M., Uhlén, M., and Nyren, P. (1998). "A sequencing method based on real-time pyrophosphate," *Science* 281(5375), 363. DOI: 10.1126/science.281.5375.363

- Rondon, M. R., Goodman, R. M., and Handelsman, J. (1999). "The Earth's bounty: Assessing and accessing soil microbial diversity," *Trends in Biotechnology* 17(10), 403-409. DOI: 10.1016/S0167-7799(99)01352-9
- Rondon, M. R., August, P. R., Bettermann, A. D., Brady, S. F., Grossman, T. H., Liles, M. R., Loiacono, K. A., Lynch, B. A., MacNeil, I. A., Minor, C., Tiong, *et al.* (2000).
  "Cloning the soil metagenome: A strategy for accessing the genetic and functional diversity of uncultured microorganisms," *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 66, 2541-2547. DOI: 10.1128/AEM.66.6.2541-2547.2000
- Sanger, F., and Coulson, A. R. (1975). "A rapid method for determining sequences in DNA by primed synthesis with DNA polymerase," *Journal of Molecular Biology* 94(3), 441IN19447-19446IN20448. DOI: 10.1016/0022-2836(75)90213-2
- Saraswathi, R., and Saseetharan, M. K. (2010). "Investigation on microorganisms and their degradation efficiency in paper and pulp mill effluent," *Journal of Water Resource and Protection* 2, 660-664. DOI: 10.4236/jwarp.2010.27076
- Sarti, A., Pozzi, E., and Zaiat, M. (2012). "Characterization of immobilized biomass by amplified rDNA restriction analysis (ARDRA) in an anaerobic sequencing-batch biofilm reactor (ASBBR) for the treatment of industrial wastewater," *Brazilian Archives of Biology and Technology* 55(4), 623-629. DOI: 10.1590/S1516-89132012000400019
- Shah, M. (2014). "An application of amplified ribosomal DNA restriction analysis in the changes of microbial community structure of industrial waste water treatment," *International Journal of Environmental Bioremediation & Biodegradation* 2(4), 192-196.
- Schloss, P. D., Jenior, M. L., Koumpouras, C. C., Westcott, S. L., and Highlander, S. K. (2016). "Sequencing 16S rRNA gene fragments using the PacBio SMRT DNA sequencing system," *PeerJ* 4 e1869. DOI: 10.7717/peerj.1869
- Schwieger, F., and Tebbe, C. C. (1998). "A new approach to utilize PCR-single-strand conformation polymorphism for 16S rRNA gene-based microbial community analysis," *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 64, 4870-4876.
- Shendure, J., and Ji, H. (2008). "Next-generation DNA sequencing," *Nat. Biotech*. 26(10), 1135-1145. DOI: 10.1038/nbt1486
- Singh, Y. P., Dhall, P., Mathur, R. M., Jain, R. K., Vadde-Thakur, V., Kumar, V., Kumar, R., and Kumar, A. (2011). "Bioremediation of Pulp and Paper Mill Effluent by Tannic Acid Degrading Enterobacter sp.," *Water, Air, & Soil Pollution* 218(1), 693-701. DOI: 10.1007/s11270-010-0678-4

- Singh, P. (2007). "Sequential anaerobic and aerobic treatment of pulp and paper mill effluent in pilot scale bioreactor," *Journal of Environmental Biology* 28(1), 77-82.
- Smit, E., Leeflang, P., and Wernars, K. (1997). "Detection of shifts in microbial community structure and diversity in soil caused by copper contamination using amplified ribosomal DNA restriction analysis," *FEMS Microbiol. Ecol.* 23, 249-261. DOI: 10.1016/S0168-6496(97)00029-9
- Smith, N. R., Yu, Z., and Mohn, W. W. (2003). "Stability of the bacterial community in a pulp mill effluent treatment system during normal operation and a system shutdown," *Water Research* 37(20), 4873-4884. DOI: 10.1016/j.watres.2003.08.019
- Srivastava, M. K., Li, C.-N., and Li, Y.-R. (2012). "Development of sequence characterized amplified region (SCAR) marker for identifying drought tolerant sugarcane genotypes," *Australian Journal of Crop Science* 6(4), 763.
- Stager, C. E., and Davis, J. (1992). "Automated systems for identification of microorganisms," *Clinical Microbiology Reviews* 5(3), 302-327. DOI: 10.1128/CMR.5.3.302
- Thies, J. E. (2007). "Soil microbial community analysis using terminal restriction fragment length polymorphisms," *Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J.* 71, 579-591. DOI: 10.2136/sssaj2006.0318
- Vacher, C., Tamaddoni-Nezhad, A., Kamenova, S., Peyrard, N., Moalic, Y., Sabbadin, R., Schwaller, L., Chiquet, J., Smith, M. A., Vallance, J. F., *et al.* (2016). "Learning ecological networks from next-generation sequencing data," in: *Advances in Ecological Research*, W. Guy and A. B. David (eds.), Academic Press, Volume 54, Ch. 1, pp. 1-39. DOI: 10.1016/bs.aecr.2015.10.004
- Vaneechoutte, M., and Heyndrickx, M. (2001). "Application and analysis of ARDRA patterns in bacterial identification, taxonomy and phylogeny, A2 Dijkshoorn, Lenie," in: *New Approaches for the Generation and Analysis of Microbial Typing Data*, K. J. Towner and M. Struelens (eds.), Amsterdam, Elsevier Science B.V., Ch. 9, pp. 211-247. DOI: 10.1016/B978-044450740-2/50010-1
- Victorio, L., Gilbride, K. A., Allen, D. G., and Liss, S. N. (1996). "Phenotypic fingerprinting of microbial communities in wastewater treatment systems," *Water Research* 30(5), 1077-1086. DOI: 10.1016/0043-1354(95)00269-3
- Wagner, M., and Loy, A. (2002). "Bacterial community composition and function in sewage treatment systems," *Current Opinion in Biotechnology* 13(3), 218-227. DOI: 10.1016/S0958-1669(02)00315-4
- Wang, Q., Garrity, G. M., Tiedje, J. M., and Cole, J. R. (2007). "Naive Bayesian classifier for rapid assignment of rRNA sequences into the new bacterial taxonomy," *Applied and Environmental Microbiology* 73(16), 5261-5267. DOI: 10.1128/AEM.00062-07
- Whitman, W. B., Coleman, D. C., and Wiebe, W. J. (1998). "Prokaryotes: The unseen majority," *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 95(12), 6578-6583. DOI: 10.1073/pnas.95.12.6578
- Wilson, L. A., and Sharp, P. M. (2006). "Enterobacterial repetitive intergenic consensus (ERIC) sequences in *Escherichia coli*: Evolution and implications for ERIC-PCR," *Molecular Biology and Evolution* 23(6), 1156-1168. DOI: 10.1093/molbev/msj125
- Wintzingerode, F. V., Göbel, U. B., and Stackebrandt, E. (1997). "Determination of microbial diversity in environmental samples: Pitfalls of PCR-based rRNA analysis,"

*FEMS Microbiology Reviews* 21(3), 213-229. DOI: 10.1111/j.1574-6976.1997.tb00351.x

- Yang, C., Cao, G., Li, Y., Zhang, X., Ren, H., Wang, X., Feng, J., Zhao, L., and Xu, P. (2008). "Correction: A constructed alkaline consortium and its dynamics in treating alkaline black liquor with very high pollution load," *Plos One* 3(12). DOI: 10.1371/annotation/2cc5374b-b2cf-4f78-9952-0343272bfe2f
- Yu, Z., and Mohn, W. (2001). "Bacterial diversity and community structure in an aerated lagoon revealed by ribosomal intergenic spacer analyses and 16s ribosomal DNA sequencing," *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 67(4), 1565-1574. DOI: 10.1128/aem.67.4.1565-1574.2001
- Zak, D. R., Blackwood, C. B., and Waldrop, M. P. (2006). "A molecular dawn for biogeochemistry," *Trends in Ecology and Evolution* 21, 288-295. DOI: 10.1016/j.tree.2006.04.003
- Zelazny, A. M., Root, J. M., Shea, Y. R., Colombo, R. E., Shamputa, I. C., Stock, F., Conlan, S., McNulty, S., Brown-Elliott, B. A., and Wallace, R. J. (2009). "Cohort study of molecular identification and typing of *Mycobacterium abscessus*, *Mycobacterium massiliense*, and *Mycobacterium bolletii*," *Journal of Clinical Microbiology* 47(7), 1985-1995. DOI: 10.1128/JCM.01688-08
- Zhan, P., Chen, J., He, G., Fang, G., and Shi, Y. (2010). "Microbial dynamics in a sequencing batch reactor treating alkaline peroxide mechanical pulp and paper process wastewater," *Environmental Science and Pollution Research* 17(9), 1599-1605.
- Zhang, Y., Bicho, P. A., Breuil, C., Saddler, J. N., and Liss, S. N. (1997). "Resin acid degradation by bacterial strains grown on CTMP effluent," *Water Science and Technology* 35(2), 33-39. DOI: 10.1016/S0273-1223(96)00912-2
- Zhou, J., He, Z., Yang, Y., Deng, Y., Tringe, S. G., and Alvarez-Cohen, L. (2015). "High-throughput metagenomic technologies for complex microbial community analysis: open and closed formats," *MBio* 6(1), e02288-14. DOI: 10.1128/mBio.02288-14

Article submitted: November 8, 2016; Peer review completed: January 12, 2017; Revised version received: February 10, 2017; Accepted: February 11, 2017; Published: February 22, 2017.

DOI: 10.15376/biores.12.2.Bailon\_Salas